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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

____________________________________ 
      ) 
HERITAGE FOUNDATION.,  ) 
214 Massachusetts Ave. N.E.   ) 
Washington, D.C.  20002   ) 
      ) 
MIKE HOWELL    ) 
214 Massachusetts Ave. N.E.   ) 
Washington, D.C.  20002   ) 

   ) 
Plaintiffs,  ) 

      ) 
v.      ) Case No. 22-cv-2780 
      ) 
U.S. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT   ) 
OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION  ) 
131 M. Street, N.E.    ) 
Washington, D.C.  20507   ) 
      ) 
   Defendant.  ) 
____________________________________) 
 

 
COMPLAINT AND PRAYER FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

 
Plaintiffs THE HERITAGE FOUNDATION and MIKE HOWELL (collectively 

“Plaintiffs”) for their complaint against Defendant EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 

COMMISSION (“EEOC”) allege on knowledge as to Plaintiffs, and on information and belief as 

to all other matters, as follows: 

1. This is an action under the Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”), 5 U.S.C. 

§ 552, to compel the production of information related to the formulation and drafting of a 

“technical assistance document” entitled Protections Against Employment Discrimination Based 

on Sexual Orientation or Gender Identify (June 15, 2021) (“EEOC Guidance”).1   

 
1  Plaintiffs believe the EEOC Guidance is in fact a legislative rule notwithstanding its label.   
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2. The EEOC Guidance—issued unilaterally by EEOC Chair Charlotte R. 

Burrows—purports to extend the Supreme Court’s opinion in Bostock v. Clayton Cnty., 140 S.Ct. 

1731 (2020) to a variety of questions on which the Bostock Court expressly reserved.  It purports 

to do so without notice and comment or a Commission vote.  The EEOC Guidance was and is 

highly controversial.  2 United States Senators and 21 States Attorneys General have stated the 

EEOC Guidance is both procedurally infirm and substantively wrong.  The Senators called for it 

to be withdrawn and sought records and information explaining its creation.  Plaintiffs’ FOIA 

Request seeks many of the same records.  To Plaintiffs’ knowledge the Senators have not 

received a substantive response.  Sources within the EEOC have questioned the propriety of the 

method by which the EEOC Guidance issued.  It has been preliminarily enjoined by a federal 

district court because it is a legislative rule and was not submitted for notice and comment.  In 

July, an EEOC Commissioner took the extraordinary step of praising that preliminary injunction 

because in her opinion the EEOC Guidance is both procedurally and substantively flawed.  And 

just last month two other EOCC Commissioner published an editorial in The Wall Street Journal 

which in pertinent part attacked the EEOC Guidance as procedurally and substantively improper.  

Therefore, a majority of the five-member Commission has opined that the EEOC Guidance is 

substantively and procedurally improper.   

3. How did such a controversial document come to pass?  Who participated in its 

drafting?  Who was consulted before its release?  And what are the merits of the accusations 

levied against it by 3 of the 5 EEOC Commissioners, 2 Senators, and 21 State Attorneys 

General?  These are important questions.  Plaintiffs’ FOIA Request seeks to answer them.  But 

the EEOC has failed to substantively respond to Plaintiff’s FOIA Request.  Plaintiffs have no 
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recourse but this lawsuit to compel the EEOC to comply with its legal obligations under FOIA to 

provide those answers.  

PARTIES 
 

4. Plaintiff The Heritage Foundation (“Heritage”) is a Washington, D.C.-based 

nonpartisan think tank with a national and international reputation whose mission is to 

“formulate and promote public policies based on the principles of free enterprise, limited 

government, individual freedom, traditional American values, and a strong national defense.”  

Heritage Foundation, About Heritage, https://www.heritage.org/about-heritage/mission (last 

visited Sept. 13, 2022).  Heritage is a not-for-profit section 501(c)(3) organization which engages 

in substantial dissemination of information to the public.  Heritage operates a national news 

outlet, The Daily Signal.   

5. Plaintiff Mike Howell (“Howell”) heads the Heritage Foundation’s Oversight 

Project and is an author for The Daily Signal.  The Oversight Project is an initiative aimed at 

obtaining information via Freedom of Information Act requests and other means in order to best 

inform the public and Congress for the purposes of Congressional oversight.  The requests and 

analysis of information is informed by Heritage’s deep policy expertise.  For example, Sara 

Parshall Perry, a Senior Legal Fellow at Heritage, has published legal commentary on the EEOC 

Guidance in The Daily Signal and intends to use documents sought by Plaintiff’s FOIA Request 

as an important part of her on-going research and writing on this issue.  See Gian Carlo Canaparo 

& Sarah Parshall Perry, Federal Judge Blocks Biden’s Attempt to Reinterpret Discrimination 

Laws, The Daily Signal (July 19, 2022).  

6. Defendant EEOC is a federal agency of the United States within the meaning of 

5 U.S.C. § 552(f)(1) whose mission statement is to “[p]revent and remedy unlawful employment 
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discrimination and advance equal opportunity for all in the workplace.”  EEOC, Overview, 

https://www.eeoc.gov/overview (last visited Sept. 13, 2022). 

7. The EEOC is composed of five Commissioners appointed by the President by 

and with the advice and consent of the Senate.  42 U.S.C. § 2000e-4(a).  The five Commissioners 

serve staggered five year terms, and “not more than three” may be the members of the same 

political party.  Id.  The EEOC exercises its power as a collective body (subject to a quorum 

requirement).  Id. at § 2000e-4(a), (c).  The Chair of the EEOC is “designat[ed]” by the 

President.  Id. at § 2000e-4(a).  The Chair’s unilateral authority is generally limited to the 

“administrative operations of the Commission” and the appointment of most EEOC staff.  

President Joseph R. Biden designated Chair Burrows Chair on January 20, 2021.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B) because this 

action is brought in the District of Columbia and 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because the resolution of 

disputes under FOIA presents a federal question. 

9. Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because Defendant 

EEOC’s principal place of business is in the District of Columbia. 

BACKGROUND 

10. In Bostock, the Supreme Court addressed a single narrow question:  “The only 

question before us is whether an employer who fires someone simply for being homosexual or 

transgender has discharged or otherwise discriminated against that individual ‘because of such 

individual’s sex’” under Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1).  140 S.Ct. at 1753.  The answer:  
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yes.  “An employer who fires an individual merely for being gay or transgender defies the law.”  

Id. at 1754.   

11. That is the entirety of the Court’s holding.  But the Court went further and 

specifically set out several statutory questions under Title VII it did not address: 

The employers worry that our decision will sweep beyond Title VII to other federal or 
state laws that prohibit sex discrimination.  And, under Title VII itself, they say sex-
segregated bathrooms, locker rooms, and dress codes will prove unsustainable after our 
decision today.  But none of these other laws are before us; we have not had the benefit 
of adversarial testing about the meaning of their terms, and we do not prejudge any such 
question today.  Under Title VII, too, we do not purport to address bathrooms, locker 
rooms, or anything else of the kind.  The only question before us is whether an employer 
who fires someone simply for being homosexual or transgender has discharged or 
otherwise discriminated against that individual “because of such individual’s sex.”  As 
used in Title VII, the term “‘discriminate against’” refers to “distinctions or differences in 
treatment that injure protected individuals.”  Burlington N. & S.F.R., 548 U.S. [53,] 59, 
126 S.Ct. 2405 [(2006)].  Firing employees because of a statutorily protected trait surely 
counts.  Whether other policies and practices might or might not qualify as unlawful 
discrimination or find justifications under other provisions of Title VII are questions for 
future cases, not these.  

 
Id. at 1753. 
 

12. The Court also was clear that its holding did not reach the questions that would be 

posed by “the employers fear that complying with Title VII’s requirement in cases like ours may 

require some employers to violate their religious convictions.”  Id.  The Court took pains to 

emphasize its “deep[] concern[] with preserving the promise of the free exercise of religion 

enshrined in our Constitution; that guarantee lies at the heart of our pluralistic society.”  Id. at 

1753.  The Court then catalogued for “careful consideration” in “future cases” (evidencing no 

doubt such cases would occur) those provisions protecting religious liberty that would 

necessarily interact with Bostock’s holding: 

As a result of its deliberations in adopting the law, Congress included an express 
statutory exception for religious organizations. § 2000e–1(a).  This Court has also 
recognized that the First Amendment can bar the application of employment 
discrimination laws “to claims concerning the employment relationship between a 
religious institution and its ministers.”  Hosanna-Tabor Evangelical Lutheran Church 
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and School v. EEOC, 565 U.S. 171, 188, 132 S.Ct. 694, 181 L.Ed.2d 650 (2012).  And 
Congress has gone a step further yet in the Religious Freedom Restoration Act of 1993 
(RFRA), 107 Stat. 1488, codified at 42 U.S.C. § 2000bb et seq. 
 

Id. at 1754.  

13. On June 15, 2021, Chair Burrows unilaterally issued the EEOC Guidance.  The 

EEOC Guidance describes itself as a “fact sheet” issued in part to “briefly explain[] what the 

Bostock decision means for LGBTQ+ workers (and all covered workers) and for employers 

across the country.”  Id. at 1. 

14. The EEOC Guidance extends Bostock as to all private sectors employees on the 

very questions reserved by the Court in Bostock.   

• “Prohibiting a transgender person from dressing or presenting consistent with that 
person’s gender identity would constitute sex discrimination.”  EEOC Guidance 
at 6. 
 

• “[E]mployers may not deny an employee equal access to a bathroom, locker 
room, or shower that corresponds to the employee’s gender identity.”  Id. 
 

• [I]ntentionally and repeatedly using the wrong name and pronouns to refer to a 
transgender employee could contribute to an unlawful hostile work environment.  
Id. at 7. 
 

• Bostock applies to “promotions,” “demotions,” “discipline,” “training,” “work 
assignments,” “pay, overtime, or other compensation,” “fringe benefits,” and 
“other terms, conditions, and privileges of employment.”  Id. at 5.  

 
15. But at the very same time the EEOC Guidance extends Bostock as to the very 

questions on which Bostock reserved, it is silent on the specific interplay between its extensions 

of Bostock and Title VII’s religious exception, the First Amendment, and the Religious Freedom 

Restoration Act (“RFRA”).  This despite the fact that the Bostock Court took care to:  (1) note its 

“deep[] concern[]” with protecting religious liberties; (2) note that its holding would necessarily 

“interact” with Title VII’s religious exemption, the First Amendment, and RFRA; and (3) enjoin 
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that cases asserting “free exercise arguments” arising from those interactions “merit[ed] careful 

consideration.”  140 S.Ct. at 1754.  

16. The EEOC Guidance also did not pause to consider the fact that compelled use of 

pronouns in all private and public sector cases raises question under the First Amendment’s 

guarantee of freedom of speech.  See, e.g., Merriweather v. Hartop, 992 F.3d 492 (6th Cir. 2021) 

(professor at public university stated First Amendment freedom of speech claims against 

compelled adherence to university’s requirements of using students’ preferred pronouns).  

17. Under EEOC Regulations, a vote of the Commissioners is required to release any 

guidance document that “sets forth the Commission’s position on a legal principle for the first 

time or changes the Commission’s legal position on any issue.”  29 C.F.R. § 1695.2(d).  A vote 

is also required for “[a]ny significant guidance or guidance that is otherwise subject to notice and 

comment procedures.”  The Chair can issue guidance only “[i]f the document is not setting forth 

a new or changed legal position, is reiterating already established Commission policies, or is 

otherwise simply providing technical assistance on the laws the Commission enforces without 

announcing any new policy or legal position.”  Id.  The EEOC Guidance was not submitted for 

notice and comment and was not voted on by the EEOC. 

18. The EEOC Guidance was and is highly controversial.  
 
19. It has been reported that Chair Burrows’ decision to release the EEOC Guidance 

without a Commission vote was internally controversial: 

“The Chair’s decision to issue this guidance document without putting it to a 
Commission vote evidences a flagrant disregard for the EEOC’s own procedures and for 
the rule of law,” a high-ranking EEOC official told the Free Beacon.  “No one who has 
actually read the Bostock opinion could make such sweeping claims in good faith.”  
 

Kevin Daley, Career Officials Chafe at EEOC Transgender Guidance, Wash. Free Beacon (June 

25, 2021); see also id. (“Some agency lawyers are anxious about defending the document in 
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court, given that it goes well beyond the Court’s holding, an EEOC employee told 

the Washington Free Beacon.”). 

20. On July 7, 2022, the Attorneys General of 21 States transmitted a letter to 

President Joseph R. Biden, concerning (in part) the EEOC Guidance and copied the EEOC 

Commissioners, the Secretary of Education, and Senate and House Leadership.  Letter from the 

Hon. Herbert H. Slatery III et al. to the Hon. Joseph R. Biden, 1, 7 (July 7, 20221) (“State AG 

Letter”).  The State AG Letter took issue with the EEOC Guidance, arguing it “fundamentally 

misconstrues and improperly extends Bostock.”  Id. at 2.  It also took issue with the fact that the 

EEOC Guidance was not put out for notice and comment or voted on by the Commission.  Id.  

The State AG Letter concluded that the EEOC Guidance (and a Department of Education 

Guidance not at issue here) “flout required procedures and the rule of law and serve only to sow 

confusion among regulated entities.”  Id. at 4–5. 

21. On July 14, 2021 Senators Josh Hawley and Mike Lee transmitted a letter to 

Chair Burrows attacking the EEOC Guidance.  Letter from Sen. Josh Hawley & Sen. Mike Lee 

to the Hon. Charlotte A. Burrows (July 14, 2022) (“Senators’ Letter”).  It opened by stating the 

EEOC Guidance “takes an extreme and partisan interpretation of Supreme Court precedent and 

was issued in violation of established procedures, as detailed in 29 C.F.R. § 1695.2(d).  It should 

be rescinded immediately.”  Id. at 1.  The Senators’ Letter argued that the EEOC Guidance 

improperly extended Bostock as to the points discussed, supra at ¶ 14.  Id. at 2.  It then again 

submitted that the EEOC Guidance was required to be put to a vote under 29 C.F.R. § 1695.2(d).  

Id.  To this it added:  

This is especially concerning because a majority of the Commissioners were appointed 
by a different political party than your own.  This irregularity therefore gives rise to the 
inference that the Democrat-appointed Chair of the EEOC skirted regular protocol in 
order to enact her preferred policy preferences, knowing full well that a majority of the 
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Commissioners would never vote for this outcome if the required process had been 
followed.  These reports thus raise serious questions about the Biden Administration’s 
commitment to the rule of law.   
 

Id. at 3.  The Senators’ Letter concluded by submitting that “[t]he guidance issued is legally 

wrong, procedurally invalid, and inconsistent with the rule of law.  It should be rescinded 

immediately, or at a minimum, put to a vote of the Commission as a whole.”  Id. at 3. 

22. Separately, the Senators’ Letter also sought records related to the EEOC 

Guidance’s formulation and answers to a number of related questions.  Id. at 3–4.  Many of the 

records sought would also be responsive to Plaintiffs’ FOIA Request.  Plaintiffs are unaware of 

any substantive response to the Senators’ Letter.   

23. On August 20, 2021, 21 States sued the EEOC (among other defendants) as 

employers subject to Title VII alleging (in pertinent part) that the EEOC Guidance was 

substantively and procedurally unlawful under the Administrative Procedure Act and the 

Constitution.  See Tennessee v. U.S. Dep’t of Educ., No. 3:21-cv-308 (CEA), 2022 WL 2791450, 

*3 (E.D. Tenn. July 15, 2022).  On July 15, 2022, the District Court preliminarily enjoined the 

EEOC Guidance on the ground that it was a legislative rule and subject to notice and comment.  

Id. at *22.  The court reasoned that the EEOC Guidance was a legislative rule because it 

extended Bostock to the very conduct on which Bostock expressly reserved.  Id.  The District 

Court also rejected the argument that the EEOC Guidance merely reiterated prior EEOC 

decisions.  It held that by definition mere EEOC decisions were not “definitive interpretations” 

of Title VII (they apply only to the federal sector), whereas the EEOC Guidance purported to 

extend the binding force of Bostock to all.  Id.   

24. The next day, EEOC Commissioner Andrea Lucas issued an extraordinary 

statement:  “I am pleased to see the court’s order enjoining the document.”  Statement of Comm’r 
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Andrew R. Lucas on Federal Court Order Blocking Enforcement of EEOC Chair Burrow’s Post-

Bostock “Technical Assistance” (July 16, 2022).  Commissioner Lucas opined that the EEOC 

Guidance “has little to do with facilitating understanding of, or adherence to,” Bostock.  Id.  She 

explained: 

Under the guise and cover of Bostock, the Chair purported to extend to private employers 
(and state government employers) several (pre-Bostock) federal sector administrative 
decisions relating to dress codes, use of pronouns, and access to bathrooms, locker 
rooms, and showers—implying that compliance with Bostock requires nationwide 
acquiescence to the policies and interpretations in these decisions.  This slight of hand is 
inexplicable when juxtaposed with the Court’s decision in Bostock, including its express 
statements that its decision did not concern, much less resolve, some of these critical 
issues.  
 

Id.  Commissioner Lucas then laid out what she viewed as the EEOC Guidance’s procedural 

infirmities:  

For the EEOC to have addressed these issues properly, the Commission should have 
worked together, debated, held public meetings, and, most importantly, voted on the 
standards it seeks to apply to the nation’s workforce in guidance, as informed by 
Bostock’s holding and finalized after providing stakeholders with notice and the 
opportunity to comment.  But that did not, and has not, occurred.  The temporary 
injunction blocking Chair Burrows’ unilateral policy document therefore is a welcome 
development.  
 

Id.  

25. On August 25, 2022, Commissioners Janet Dhillon and Keith Sonderling 

published an op-ed in The Wall Street Journal, An Administrative Power Grab at the EEOC, 

with the lead:  “Rouge commissioners and staffer seize authority that legally belongs to the 

commission majority.”  Janet Dhillon & Keith Sonderling, An Administrative Power Grab at the 

EEOC, Wall St. Journal (Aug. 25, 2022).  Part of the od-ed addressed the EEOC Guidance: 

 The agency where we serve as commissioners, the Equal Employment 
Opportunity Commission, administers federal civil-rights laws applicable in the 
workplace.  Republican commissioners still hold a majority.  According to agency rules, 
when the commission opines on a new policy, it must be approved through a majority 
vote of the commissioners.   
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 Last year, in defiance of these rules, the Democratic chairman unilaterally issued 
a “technical assistance” document purporting merely to interpret and assist employers 
and employees in understanding their obligations and rights under the Supreme Court’s 
decision in Bostock v. Clayton County (2020), which expanded the definition of “sex 
discrimination” to include sexual orientation and gender identity. 
 
 Notwithstanding clear language in the Bostock decision reserving judgment on 
hot-topic issues such as dress codes, pronouns and bathroom access, the agency’s 
publication issued decrees on all those questions.  All this without a vote of the 
commission.  Several lawsuits were filed, and in July a federal judge in Tennessee 
enjoined enforcement of the “technical assistance” document in a case brought on behalf 
of 20 state attorneys general. 
 

Id.  

PLAINTIFF’S FOIA REQUEST 

26. On June 21, 2022, Plaintiffs transmitted a FOIA request via email seeking:  “All 

records, communications and attachments from the individuals and email addresses listed below, 

regarding [Bostock] AND [(working group) OR (technical assistance) OR (SOGI) OR (draft of 

technical assistance on Bostock v.Clayton County) OR (Bostock TA)].”  FOIA Request No. 820-

2022-009974, at 1 (June 21, 2022) (Ex. 1) (“The Request” or “Plaintiffs’ FOIA Request”).  The 

Request provided a list of relevant individuals and EEOC email addresses.  Id. at 2–3. 

27. The Request sought a fee waiver based on Heritage’s status as a 501(c)(3) 

nonprofit, Plaintiffs’ non-commercial purpose, Plaintiffs’ status as representatives of the news 

media, and the fact that “[t]he requested information is in the public interest because EEOC 

Bostock guidance is still making headlines, and lawsuits regarding EEOC guidance are still 

newsworthy.”  Id. at 3.   

28. On June 22, 2022, EEOC transmitted a notice stating that the Request was 

assigned to the “simple” processing track.  Notice, FOIA Request No. 820-2022-009974 (June 

22, 2022) (Ex. 2).  On June 28, 2022, EEOC transmitted a second notice finding “unusual 
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circumstances” under 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(B) based on “the need to search for and collect the 

requested records, if any exist, from field office or other establishments that are separate from 

this office.”  Notice, FOIA Request, No. 820-2022-009974 (June 28, 2022) (Ex. 3). 

29. 30 working days from June 22, 2022 is August 4, 2022.  

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Violation FOIA, 5 U.S.C. §552 

Failure to Conduct Adequate Searches for Responsive Records. 
 

30. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1–29 as if fully set out herein.  

31. FOIA requires all doubts to be resolved in favor of disclosure.  “Transparency in 

government operations is a priority of th[e Biden] . . . Administration.”  Attorney General, 

Memorandum for Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies:  Freedom of Information Act 

Guidelines, at 4 (Mar. 15, 2022).   

32. Plaintiffs properly requested records within the possession, custody, and control 

of Defendant. 

33. Defendant is subject to FOIA and therefore must make reasonable efforts to 

search for requested records.  

34. Defendant has failed to promptly review agency records for the purpose of 

locating and collecting those records that are responsive to Plaintiffs’ FOIA Request.  

35. Defendant’s failure to conduct searches for responsive records violates FOIA and 

the EEOC regulations.  

36. Plaintiffs have a statutory right to the information they seek. 

37. Defendant is in violation of FOIA.  

38. Plaintiffs are being irreparably harmed by reason of Defendant’s violation of 

FOIA.  Plaintiffs are being denied information to which they are statutorily entitled and that is 
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important to carrying out Plaintiffs’ functions as a non-partisan research and educational 

institution and publisher of news.  Plaintiffs will continue to be irreparably harmed unless 

Defendant is compelled to comply with the law. 

39. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law.  

40. Plaintiffs have constructively exhausted their administrative remedies. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Violation of FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552 

Wrongful Withholding of Non-Exempt Responsive Records  
 

41. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1–40 as if fully set out herein.  
 
42. FOIA requires all doubts to be resolved in favor of disclosure.  “Transparency in 

government operations is a priority of th[e Biden] . . . Administration.”  Attorney General, 

Memorandum for Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies:  Freedom of Information Act 

Guidelines, at 4 (Mar. 15, 2022).  

43. Plaintiffs properly requested records within the possession, custody, or control of 

Defendant.  

44. Defendant is subject to FOIA, and therefore must release to a FOIA requester any 

non-exempt records and provide a lawful reason for withholding any records.  

45. Defendant is wrongfully withholding non-exempt records requested by Plaintiffs 

by failing to produce any records responsive to Plaintiffs’ FOIA Request.  

46. Defendant is wrongfully withholding non-exempt-agency records requested by 

Plaintiffs by failing to segregate exempt information in otherwise non-exempt records responsive 

to Plaintiffs’ FOIA Request.  

47. Defendant’s failure to provide all non-exempt responsive records violates FOIA 

and EEOC regulations.  
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48. Plaintiffs have a statutory right to the information they seek. 

49. Defendant is in violation of FOIA.  

50. Plaintiffs are being irreparably harmed by reason of Defendant’s violation of 

FOIA.  Plaintiffs are being denied information to which they are statutorily entitled and that is 

important to carrying out Plaintiffs’ functions as a non-partisan research and educational 

institution and publisher of news.  Plaintiffs will continue to be irreparably harmed unless 

Defendant is compelled to comply with the law. 

51. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law.  

52. Plaintiffs have constructively exhausted their administrative remedies. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Violation of FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552 
Wrongful Denial of Fee Waiver 

 
53. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1–52 as if fully set out herein.  
 
54. FOIA requires all doubts to be resolved in favor of disclosure.  “Transparency in 

government operations is a priority of th[e Biden] . . . Administration.”  Attorney General, 

Memorandum for Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies:  Freedom of Information Act 

Guidelines, at 4 (Mar. 15, 2022).  

55. Plaintiffs properly requested records within the possession, custody, or control of 

Defendant.  

56. Defendant has constructively denied Plaintiffs’ application for a fee waiver 

pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(ii) & (iii) and 29 C.F.R. § 1610.15(k). 

57. The Request does not have a commercial purpose because Heritage is a 501(c)(3) 

nonprofit, Howell acts in his capacity as a Heritage employee, and release of the information 

sought does not further Plaintiffs’ commercial interest.  
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58. Plaintiffs are members of the news media as they “gather[] information of 

potential interest to a segment of the public, use[] . . . [their] editorial skills to turn the raw 

materials into a distinct work, and distribute[] that work to an audience” via Heritage’s major 

news outlet, The Daily Signal.  29 C.F.R. § 1610.15(b)(6). 

59. Disclosure of the information sought by the Request also “is in the public interest 

because it is likely to contribute significantly to public understanding of the operations or 

activities of the government.”  5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(iii).  The EEOC Guidance is a document 

of national importance about which 3 of the 5 EEOC Commissioners, 2 Senators, 21 State 

Attorneys General and the media have raised serious questions of legality and probity.  And it is 

currently preliminarily enjoined for a procedural infirmity.  It also attracted media interest. 

60. Defendant has “fail[ed] to comply with the FOIA’s time limits in which to 

respond to” the Request.  29 C.F.R. § 1610.15(d)(2)(i); see also 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(viii)(I). 

61. Plaintiffs have a statutory right to a fee waiver. 

62. Defendant is in violation of FOIA by denying a fee waiver.  

63. Plaintiffs are being irreparably harmed by reason of Defendant’s violation of 

FOIA.  Plaintiffs are being denied a fee waiver to which they are statutorily entitled and that is 

important to carrying out Plaintiffs’ functions as a non-partisan research and educational 

institution and publisher of news.  Plaintiffs will continue to be irreparably harmed unless 

Defendant is compelled to comply with the law. 

64. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law.  

65. Plaintiffs have constructively exhausted their administrative remedies. 
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FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Violation of FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552 

Statutory Bar Against Charging Fees  
 

66. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1–65 as if fully set out herein.  
 
67. FOIA requires all doubts to be resolved in favor of disclosure.  “Transparency in 

government operations is a priority of th[e Biden] . . . Administration.”  Attorney General, 

Memorandum for Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies:  Freedom of Information Act 

Guidelines, at 4 (Mar. 15, 2022).  

68. Plaintiffs properly requested records within the possession, custody, or control of 

Defendant.  

69. The Request does not have a commercial purpose because Heritage is a 501(c)(3) 

nonprofit, Howell acts in his capacity as a Heritage employee, and release of the information 

sought does not further Plaintiffs’ commercial interest.  

70. Plaintiffs are members of the news media as they “gather[] information of 

potential interest to a segment of the public, use[] . . . [their] editorial skills to turn the raw 

materials into a distinct work, and distribute[] that work to an audience” via Heritage’s major 

news outlet, The Daily Signal.  29 C.F.R. § 1610.15(b)(6). 

71. Disclosure of the information sought by the Request also “is in the public interest 

because it is likely to contribute significantly to public understanding of the operations or 

activities of the government.”  5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(iii).  The EEOC Guidance is a document 

of national importance about which an EEOC Commissioner, 2 Senators, 21 State Attorneys 

General and the media have raised serious questions of legality and probity.  And it is currently 

preliminarily enjoined for a procedural infirmity.  It also attracted media interest. 
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72. Defendant has “fail[ed] to comply with the FOIA’s time limits in which to 

respond to” the Request.  29 C.F.R. § 1610.15(d)(2)(i); see also 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(viii)(I). 

73. Defendant has not determined “more than 5,000 pages are necessary to respond to 

this request,” or discussed with Plaintiffs how Plaintiffs “could effectively limit the scope of the 

request.”  29 C.F.R. § 1610.15(d)(2)(iii); see also 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(viii)(II)(cc). 

74. Defendant is currently statutorily barred from charging fees related to Plaintiffs’ 

FOIA Request.  Therefore, Defendant has a statutory right to have its request processed without 

being charged any fees.  

75. Plaintiffs are being irreparably harmed by reason of Defendant’s violation of 

FOIA.  Plaintiffs will continue to be irreparably harmed unless Defendant is compelled to 

comply with the law. 

76. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law.  

77. Plaintiffs have constructively exhausted their administrative remedies. 

 
WHEREFORE as a result of the foregoing, Plaintiffs pray that this Court: 
 

A. Order Defendant to conduct a search or searches reasonably calculated to 

uncover all records responsive to Plaintiffs’ FOIA Request; 

B. Order Defendant to produce, within twenty days of the Court’s order, or by such 

other date as the Court deems appropriate, any and all non-exempt records 

responsive to Plaintiffs’ FOIA Request and indexes justifying the withholding of 

any responsive records withheld in whole or in part under claim of exemption; 

C. Enjoin Defendant from continuing to withhold any and all non-exempt records 

responsive to Plaintiffs’ FOIA Request; 

D. Enjoin Defendant from assessing fees or costs for Plaintiffs’ FOIA Request; 
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E. Retain jurisdiction over this matter as appropriate; 

F. Award Plaintiffs their costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees in this action as 

provided by 5 U.S.C. § 522(a)(4)(E); and 

G. Grant such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper. 
 

 
 
 

Dated: September 13, 2022 Respectfully submitted, 

  
 /s/ Samuel Everett Dewey  

SAMUEL EVERETT DEWEY  
(No. 999979) 
Chambers of Samuel Everett Dewey, LLC 

 Telephone:  (703) 261-4194 
 Email:  samueledewey@sedchambers.com 

 
ROMAN JANKOWSKI 
(No. 975348) 
The Heritage Foundation  
Telephone:  (202) 489-2969 
Email:  Roman.Jankowski@heritage.org 
 
Counsel for Plaintiffs 
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SENT VIA EMAIL: FOIA@EEOC.GOV 
 

June 21, 2022 
 
EEOC Headquarters 
131 M Street NE 
Washington, D.C. 20507 
 
Dear FOIA Officer, 
 
Pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552, and the implementing FOIA 
regulations of the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC), 29 CFR Part 1610, I 
respectfully request the following records (or records containing the following information): 
 
All records, communications and attachments from the individuals and email addresses listed 
below, regarding [Bostock] AND [(working group) OR (technical assistance) OR (SOGI) OR 
(draft of technical assistance on Bostock v.Clayton County) OR (Bostock TA)] 
 
 

• Charlotte Burrows, charlotte.burrows@eeoc.gov and officeofthechair@eeoc.gov 
• Elizabeth Fox-Solomon, elizabeth.fox-solomon@eeoc.gov  
• Adaku Onyeka-Crawford, Adaku.Onyeka-Crawford@eeoc.gov 
• Brandi Meredith, Brandi.Meredith@eeoc.gov;  
• Eunice Ikene, Eunice.Ikene@eeoc.gov 
• Davis Kim, Davis.Kim@eeoc.gov 
• Lucila Rosa, Lucila.Rosa@eeoc.gov 
• Shelley Kahn, Shelley.Kahn@eeoc.gov 
• Tietta Gowans, tietta.gowans@eeoc.gov 
• Cynthia Pierre, cynthia.pierre@eeoc.gov 
• Jocelyn Samuels, jocelyn.samuels@eeoc.gov 
• Antoinette Eates, Antoinette.eates@eeoc.gov 
• Justin Mulaire, justin.mulaire@eeoc.gov 
• Sharon Alexander, sharon.alexander@eeoc.gov 
• Daniel Vail, daniel.vail@eeoc.gov 
• Claudia Molina, claudia.molina@eeoc.gov 
• Justin Evans, justin.evans@eeoc.gov 
• Zain Shirazi, zain.shirazi@eeoc.gov 
• Liza Zamd, Liza.Zamd@eeoc.gov 
• bostockworkinggroup@eeoc.gov 
• LGBTQl.training@eeoc.gov 
• pride@eeoc.gov 
• Zachary Florent, zachary.florent@eeoc.gov 
• Natalie Nardecchia, natalie.nardecchia@eeoc.gov 
• Molly Powell, mollv.powell@eeoc.gov 
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• Carlton Hadden, carlton.hadden@eeoc.gov  
• Carol Miaskoff, Carol.Miaskoff@eeoc.gov 
• Sharyn Tejani, Sharyn.Tejani@eeoc.gov 
• Delner Franklin-Thomas, Delner.Franklin-Thomas@eeoc.gov 
• Rosa Viramontes, Rosa.Viramontes@eeoc.gov 
• Dexter Brooks, Dexter.Brooks@eeoc.gov 
• Julie Schmid, Julie.Schmid@eeoc.gov 
 

Please limit the search for this request from January 21, 2021, to June 21, 2022.   
 
For calendar entries created in Outlook, Teams, Zoom, WebEx or similar programs, the 
documents should be produced in “memo” form to include all invitees, any notes, and all 
attachments.  All calendar and calendar entries include any calendars maintained on behalf of 
these individuals (e.g., by an administrative assistant).  Please do not limit your search to Outlook 
calendars—we request the production of any calendar—paper or electronic, whether on 
government-issued or personal devices—used to track or coordinate how these individuals allocate 
their time on agency business.  We request that you include calendars and invitations created in 
Outlook, Teams, Zoom, WebEx, or similar programs. 
 
In the interest of expediency and to minimize the research and/or duplication burden on your staff, 
please send records electronically if possible.  If this is not possible, please notify me before 
sending to the mailing address listed below.  If access to this request will take longer than seven 
(20) business days, please let me know when I might receive records or be able to inspect the 
requested records.  Please produce responsive documents as soon as they become available.  
In all cases, please communicate with me at the below email address. 
 
Please comply fully with 5 U.S.C. § 552 (b).  Accordingly, without limitation to the foregoing, if 
any portion of this request is denied for any reason, please provide written notice of the records or 
portions of records that are being withheld and cite each specific exemption of the Freedom of 
Information Act on which the agency relies.  Moreover, to the extent EEOC believes that responsive 
records may be withheld in part produce all reasonably segregable portions of those records.   
Additionally, please provide all responsive documents even if they are redacted in full.   
 
Fee Waiver Request 
I am a representative of the news media, and this request is related to news gathering purposes.  
As a 501(c)(3) nonprofit, Heritage Foundation does not have a commercial purpose and the 
release of the information requested is not in Heritage Foundation’s commercial interest.  
Heritage Foundation’s mission is to is to formulate and promote public policies based on the 
principles of free enterprise, limited government, individual freedom, traditional American values, 
and a strong national defense. 
 
Heritage Foundation uses the information requested and analyzes it in order to educate the public 
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through social media,1 broadcast media2 (traditional and nontraditional) and press releases.3  
The requested information is in the public interest because EEOC Bostock guidance is still making 
headlines, and lawsuits regarding EEOC guidance are still newsworthy4.     
 
Because this is a request by a member of the news media for information of public interest, made in 
my capacity as an author for the Daily Signal5 (a major news outlet6), I actively gather information 
of potential interest to our Daily Signal audience, and I use my editorial skills to turn raw materials 
into a distinct work, and I distribute that work to our Daily Signal audience through podcasts7 or 
articles.  I request that you waive all applicable fees associated with this request.  
 
Because this is a request by a member of the news media for information of public interest, made 
in my capacity as an author for the Daily Signal5 (a major news outlet6), I actively gather 
information of potential interest to our Daily Signal audience, and I use my editorial skills to turn 
raw materials into a distinct work, and I distribute that work to our Daily Signal audience through 
podcasts7 or articles. I request that you waive all applicable fees associated with this request. 
 

If you deny this request for a fee waiver, please advise me in advance of the estimated charges if 
they are to exceed $50.  Please send me a detailed and itemized explanation of those charges. 
 
Thank you in advance for considering my request.  If you have any questions, or feel you need 
clarification of this request please contact me at oversightproject@heritage.org. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
Mike Howell 
Senior Advisor and Author at The Daily Signal 
The Heritage Foundation  
214 Massachusetts Ave, NE 
Washington, D.C. 20002 

 
 
 

 
1 Heritage Foundation.  [@ Heritage] (Accessed: 2022, February 18).  626.8K Followers Twitter.  
https://twitter.com/Heritage 
2 Fox News.  (Accessed: 2022, February 18).  Heritage Foundation launches Conservative Oversight Project aimed at 
'exposing' Biden admin, leftist policies.  https://www.foxnews.com/politics/heritage-conservative-oversight-project-
biden-admin-leftist-policies 
3 Heritage Foundation.  (Accessed: 2022, February 18).  Press.  https://www.heritage.org/press .  
4 MetroWeekly.  (Accessed: 2022, June 17).  Texas AG sues feds over pushback against state’s anti-trans actions.  
https://www.metroweekly.com/2022/03/texas-ag-sues-feds-over-pushback-against-states-anti-trans-actions/  
5Daily Signal.  (Accessed: 2022, February 18).  Mike Howell.  https://www.dailysignal.com/author/mike-howell/ 
6Daily Signal.  [@DailySignal] (Accessed: 2022, February 18).  73.7K Followers Twitter.  
https://twitter.com/DailySignal 
7Apple.  (Accessed: 2022, March 4).  The Daily Signal Podcast.  https://podcasts.apple.com/us/podcast/the-daily-
signal-podcast/id1313611947 
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U.S. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION
Office of Legal Counsel

 
 

131 M St, N. E., Fifth Floor

Washington, D. C. 20507

Free: (833) 827-2920

TTY: (202) 663-6056

FAX: (202) 827-7545

Website: www.eeoc.gov

 

06/22/2022

 

VIA: oversightproject@heritage.org
Mike Howell
214 Massachusetts Ave, NE
Washington, DC 20002
 
Re: FOIA No.: 820-2022-009974
 
Dear Mr. Howell:
 
Your request under the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), 5 U.S.C. § 552, received by the Office of Legal
Counsel on 06/22/2022, is assigned to the [X] Simple [ ] Complex [ ] Expedited track with the above FOIA number.
Your request will be processed by Tracy Smalls who can be reached at:202-921-2541.
 
[X]   EEOC will make every effort to issue a determination on your request on or before 07/21/2022. FOIA and

EEOC regulations provide 20 working days to issue a determination on a request, not including Saturdays,
Sundays and federal holidays. In unusual circumstances, EEOC may extend the 20 working days by
10 additional working days or stop processing your request until you respond to our request for fee or
clarifying information. Should EEOC take an extension or stop processing your request, notice will be
issued prior to the expiration of the 20 working days.

 
[X] the need to search for, collect, and appropriately examine a voluminous amount of

separate and distinct records which are demanded in a single request; or
 

You may contact the FOIA Requester Service Center for status updates on your FOIA request or for FOIA
information via toll free at (833) 827-2920, to our non-toll free number at (202) 921-2542, by e-mail to
FOIA@eeoc.gov, by facsimile to (202) 653-6034, or by mail to our office address in the letterhead above.
Additionally, if your request was filed online through the EEOC FOIA Web Portal, you may monitor its
status at https://eeoc.arkcase.com/foia/portal/login. You may also contact the Acting EEOC FOIA Public
Liaison, Michael L. Heise, for assistance.

 
Sincerely,
 
Dister Battle for
_____________________________
Michael L. Heise
Acting Assistant Legal Counsel
foia@eeoc.gov

Endnotes
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 U.S. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION 
Office of Legal Counsel 

 
 

 131 M St, N. E., Fifth Floor 
Washington, D. C.  20507 

Free: (833) 827-2920 
TTY: (202) 663-6056 
FAX: (202) 827-7545 

Website: www.eeoc.gov 

 
06/28/2022 

 
VIA: oversightproject@heritage.org 
 
Mike Howell 
214 Massachusetts Ave, NE 
Washington, DC 20002 
 
Re:  FOIA No.: 820-2022-009974 

Email Search  
 
Dear Mr. Howell: 
 

This letter is in response to your request or appeal under the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), 
received by our office on 06/22/2022. As provided in U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(B) (2007), we hereby 
provide you with the required written notice that we are extending by ten (10) working days the 
time in which we shall respond. Such extension is necessary because of the following “unusual 
circumstances”: 

[X]   (i)  the need to search for and collect the requested records, if any exist, from field offices  
or other establishments that are separate from this office; 

 
[   ]   (ii)  the need to search for, collect, and appropriately examine a voluminous amount of  

separate and distinct records which are demanded in a single request; or 
 
[   ]   (iii)  the need for consultation with another agency, or two or more components of this  

agency, having a substantial interest in the determination of the request. 
 
[   ]   If you have any questions or wish to discuss reformulation or an alternative time frame for  

the processing of your request, you may contact the FOIA Professional Tracy Smalls 
handling your request at . Additionally, you may contact the Office of Government 
Information Services (OGIS) at the National Archives and Records Administration to 
inquire about the FOIA mediation services they offer. The contact information for OGIS is 
as follows: Office of Government Information Services, National Archives and Records 
Administration, 8601 Adelphi Road-OGIS, College Park, Maryland  20740-6001; email at 
ogis@nara.gov; telephone at (202) 741-5770; toll free (877) 684-6448; or facsimile at 
(202) 741-5769. 

 

We will respond to your request by 08/04/2022. 

 
Sincerely, 
Tracy L. Smalls  for 
_____________________________ 
Michael L. Heise 
Acting Assistant Legal Counsel 
foia@eeoc.gov 
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